IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 17-0488

ROSS BARKER,

Appellant,

v.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY,

Appellee.

**ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR SCOTT COUNTY
HONORABLE MARK D. CLEVE, JUDGE**

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

PHILIP B. MEARS

Mears Law Office
209 East Washington Street
Paul-Helen Building, Suite 203
Iowa City, Iowa 52240

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

On November 20, 2017, the undersigned certifies that a true copy of the foregoing instrument was served upon the Defendant-Appellant by placing one copy thereof in the United States mail, proper postage attached, addressed to Ross Barker.

Ross Barker
3528 Main St., Apt. 8

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT DETERMINATION THAT THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY DID NOT HAVE TO FOLLOW THE COURT OF APPEALS RULING WHICH HELD THAT BARKER SHOULD ONLY HAVE TO REGISTER FOR A PERIOD OF TEN YEARS.

Grant v. Iowa Department of Human Services 722 N.W. 2d 169 (Iowa 2006)
Heidemann v. Sweitzer, 375 N.W. 2d 665 (Iowa 1985)
State v. Bullock, 638 N.W. 2d 728 (Iowa 2002)
Iowa Department of Transportation v. Iowa District Court for Bremer County 534 N.W. 2d 457 (Iowa 1995)
Hills v. Iowa Department of Transportation 534 N.W. 2d 640 (Iowa 1995)
Dressler v. Iowa Department of Transportation 542 N.W. 2d 563 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Fisher 877 N.W. 2d 676 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Kuchenreuther 218 N.W. 2d 621 (Iowa 1974)
State vs. Thomas 659 N.W.2d 217 (Iowa 2003)
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969)
State v. Carney 584 N.W. 2d 907 (Iowa 1998)
Saadique v. State, 387 N.W.2d 315 (Iowa, 1986)
Mott v. State, 407 N.W.2d 581 (Iowa, 1987)
Padilla v. Kentucky 559 U.S. 356, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010)
Blaise v. State, 2011 WL 2078091, at *4 (Iowa App., 2011)
Commonwealth v. Matthew, 2015 WL 7572949, at *1 (Pa. Super., 2015)
State v. Ellis-Strong, 2017 WL 2625507, at *1 (Minn. App., 2017)
Grant v. Iowa Department of Human Services, 722 N.W. 2d 169 (2006)
Hunter v. City of Des Moines, 300 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 1981)
Colvin v. Story County Bd. of Review, 653 N.W.2d 345 (Iowa 2002)
Employers Mut. Cas. Co. v. Van Haaften, 815 N.W.2d 17 (Iowa, 2012)
Winnebago Indus., Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa 2006)
Soults Farms, Inc. v. Schafer, 797 N.W.2d 92 (Iowa 2011)
Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Allied Mut. Ins. Co., 562 N.W.2d 159 (Iowa 1997)
Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322, 326, 99 S.Ct. 645, 649, 58 L.Ed.2d 552, 559 (1979).
Harris v. Jones, 471 N.W.2d 818 (1991)
Opheim v. American Interinsurance Exch., 430 N.W.2d 118 (Iowa 1988)
Krueger v. Fulton, 169 N.W.2d 875 (Iowa 1969)
Severson v. Sueppel, 152 N.W.2d 281 (1967)
Gottschalk v. Sueppel, 140 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1966)

Kruse v. Iowa District Court for Howard County, 712 N.W.2d 695 (Iowa 2006)
Breeden v. Iowa Dept. of Corrections, 2016 WL 3556535, at *2 (Iowa App., 2016)
Breeden v. Iowa Dept. of Corrections, 2016 WL6822870 (Iowa 2016)
Mycogen Seeds v. Sands, 686 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 2004).
Feller v. Scott County Civil Service Commission, 482 N.W.2d 154 (1992)
Wolfe v. Graether, 389 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 1986)
Lawson v. Fordyce, 21 N.W.2d 69 (Iowa 1945)

ROUTING STATEMENT

There is no reason under rule 6.401 of the Iowa Rules of Court for the Iowa Supreme Court to retain jurisdiction in this case. The claim involves the application of existing legal principles to Barker's case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

In this appeal Ross Barker seeks review of ruling from the District Court denying his petition for judicial review in the Scott County. In that petition Barker had sought review of a decision by the Department of Safety (DPS), regarding the length of his obligation to register as a sex offender.

After the Iowa Court of Appeals held in his postconviction appeal that he only had to register for ten years, Barker had filed an Application for Determination with DPS. He sought to have it accept the appeal court's determination that he only had to register on the Sex Offender Registry for ten years. DPS, without any discussion, denied that application, finding Barker should register for life. Conf. Appx. p. 74.

Barker filed a Petition for Judicial Review with the Scott County District Court. Pub. Appx. p. 8. After briefing and the submission of an agreed upon Appendix, the District Court denied relief in a ruling on March 6, 2017. Pub. Appx. p. 22.

Barker filed his Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2017. Pub. Appx. p. 30.

Course of Proceeding

There are several “proceedings” to identify and discuss, as will become clear from a discussion of the issue. Barker had a criminal case in 2008. He had a post

conviction in 2013. There was an appeal from the post conviction. After the Court of Appeals decision in that appeal, Barker filed an Application for Determination with the Department of Public Safety. That is the administrative method to seek a determination as to the length of his obligation to register. When he received a negative response from the agency, he filed his Petition for Judicial Review.

Proceeding on Judicial Review

Barker filed his Petition for Judicial Review under section 17A.19 on August 16, 2016. Pub. Appx. p. 8. On July 1, 2016, Barker had filed a third post conviction about his criminal case in Scott County. In that proceeding he argued that the outcome of his second post conviction was incorrect, and could be reconsidered in light of ineffective assistance of counsel. That case is Scott County PCCE127815.

As was expected, the State filed a Motion for Summary Dismissal in that case, noting that Barker had an earlier post conviction where essentially the same claim had been raised. The State argued the claim was time barred. Barker filed a Motion to stay further proceedings pending the outcome of the 17A action, which had just been filed. The State did not object to that stay. The postconviction case has been stayed pending the outcome of the 17A action, including this appeal.

After the DPS filed its Answer, the parties agreed upon a stipulation of record, submitting both a Public Appendix and a Confidential Appendix. The Confidential Appendix contained documents that DPS regarded as "not public".

Both parties submitted briefs and there was oral argument before Judge Mark Cleve, the judge who was assigned the case. (He is also assigned the new postconviction.)

On March 6, 2017, Judge Cleve entered his order denying relief Pub. Appx.p. 22. Barker filed a notice of appeal Pub. Appx. p. 30.

Original criminal case, Scott County FECR030582

Ross Barker was arrested on October 3, 2007, and charged with Third Degree Sex Abuse. Pub. Appx. p. 39. The Trial Information was filed on October 24, 2007, charging Barker with Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree in violation of §709.4 of the Code. Pub. Appx. p. 40. The subsection was not specified. The Minutes of testimony stated that the victim was fourteen years old at the time. The Minutes said the victim told the police that Barker, age nineteen at the time, had used force in his sexual assault. Conf. Appx. p. 9.

Barker was represented by a court appointed lawyer. After a number of continuances, the case was resolved with a plea bargain. On March 14, 2008, Barker filed a written plea of guilty to the aggravated misdemeanor of Assault of

Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse in violation of §709.11. Pub. Appx. p. 42.¹ A memorandum of plea agreement was submitted along with the written plea. A memorandum of agreement stated that it was an “open plea. The State may make any recommendation at sentencing.” Pub. Appx. p. 44. In the written plea the consequences of the plea were explained as follows: “An aggravated misdemeanor, the court can sentence me to prison not to exceed two years and fine me between \$625.00 and \$6250.00 plus surcharge and court costs.” Pub. Appx. p. 42.

In the written plea there was no reference to any special sentence to parole under 903B. There was no reference to the requirement to register as a sex offender or the length of any such registration requirement. Pub. Appx. p. 42.

In the plea Barker filed a consent to waive presence, indicating that the court could impose sentence without him being present. Pub. Appx. p. 42. Actually since it was an open sentencing that waiver did not make much sense.

On April 10, 2008, a sentencing hearing took place. The calendar entry for the sentencing² recited that Barker was sentenced to an indeterminate term not to exceed two years and required to pay a \$625.00 fine plus surcharge and costs. The

¹ Judge Cleve in his discussion of background facts stated that the parties did not include a transcript of any plea colloquy. Ruling p. 1; Pub. Appx. p. 15. A transcript was not submitted because there was only a written plea of guilty. The transcript from the sentencing hearing was submitted as part of the record in the 17A proceeding. It had been submitted as part of the record in the second post conviction proceeding.

² The sentencing order in Scott County was just a calendar entry.

calendar entry recited that the defendant was advised of his registration requirement. Pub. Appx. p. 58.

Several weeks later, after Barker got to IMCC, a record's administrator noted that the sentencing order did not include the ten year special sentence under 903B.2. The administrator wrote to the sentencing judge, calling this apparent omission to her attention. Pub. Appx. p. 59.

On May 12, 2008, the judge, apparently without holding a hearing or giving notice to Barker, amended her sentencing order. Pub. Appx. p. 60. The court calendar entry from that date stated that the sentence should include the mandatory sentence required under 903B.2.³

At the time of the second postconviction the transcript from the sentencing before Judge Tabor was prepared. It is now part of this administrative record. Pub. Appx. p. 46. At the sentencing the State asked for two years in prison. The State made no reference to any special sentence under 903B. Pub. Appx. p. 48. Defendant's Counsel asked for probation. He did not mention any special sentence. Pub. Appx. p.48-50.

The Court sentenced Barker to two years in prison, adding the following sentences about §903B and the obligation to register.

³ The calendar entry does not actually say what the length of the special sentence was. The reference to 903B.2, however, was in reference to code section with the ten year sentence.

“This type of crime is also subject to the Iowa Legislature Special Sentencing Provision which provides that in addition to the sentence proposed above you shall at – it is hereby ordered that once the sentence of incarceration or probation should be released sooner will – ends you will be subject to be placed on the correctional continuum for a period of ten years which means that you will be under the supervision as if you are on parole for an additional period of ten years. You will also be subject to the Sex Offender Registry requirement and you will be required to be on the Sex Offender Registry for a period of ten years.”
(Trans. p.8 lines 14-23); Pub. Appx. p. 53).

First postconviction PCCE111471

Barker went to prison on his criminal sentence not long after April 10, 2008, when he was sentenced. About a month later on May 12, 2008, the judge imposed the special sentence of ten years to follow his two years of incarceration. Pub. Appx. p. 60.

Barker filed a postconviction. He complained about the imposition of the special sentence. After the appointment of counsel, he dismissed the postconviction.

Mostly this first postconviction is not important to this case.

2014 postconviction PCCE124901

After Barker went to prison in 2008 he was in and out of prison over the next five years for this sexual offense, including the ten year special sentence. He was released from prison having completed everything on July 9, 2013. Pub. Appx. p. 179.

According to his 2014 postconviction, when he got out of prison in 2013 he was told by the sheriff that according to the DPS he had to register for life. Barker then filed a pro se second postconviction in Scott County on April 4, 2014. Pub. Appx. p. 84. The case was given case number PCCE124901.

In the postconviction, Barker requested a new trial, complaining that his plea agreement had been changed, imposing lifetime on the Sex Offender Registry. He explained that had he known he would be receiving life on the Sex Offender Registry, he would not have pled guilty and would have demanded a trial. Pub. Appx. p. 96.

He also complained that lifetime on the Registry was a violation of the plea agreement. He claimed that the issues could not have been raised in a previous postconviction because he only learned of the lifetime requirement “after being released from prison.” Pub. Appx. p. 97. Barker was released from prison on July 9, 2013.

After an attorney was appointed for Barker for the postconviction, Barker retained the services of Michael McCarthy, an attorney in Davenport. The State filed a Motion to Dismiss, based on the fact that the case was filed outside of the three year statute of limitations. Pub. Appx. p. 98.

Attorney McCarthy resisted the Motion to Dismiss, characterizing the postconviction as a challenge to an “illegal sentence”. That was his way of trying

to avoid the statute of limitations. He did not argue that there would be an exception to the statute of limitations based on the discovery rule. Pub. Appx. p. 99. He did not argue that Barker had relied on the original statement from the sentencing judge that he would be on the Registry for only ten years.

On June 20, 2014, Judge Paul Macek dismissed the postconviction. He concluded that the case was not a challenge to an “illegal sentence”. For that it was outside the statute of limitations. Pub. Appx. p. 103.

Barker appealed the dismissal.

Appeal from postconviction, case no. 14-1178

On postconviction appeal the Appellate Defender’s Office was appointed and Maria Ruhtenberg was the designated attorney.

Ruhtenberg filed her brief for Barker and did not request oral argument. Pub. Appx. p. 128. In her brief, Ruhtenberg argued that the postconviction lawyer was ineffective in (1) characterizing the claim as a challenge to an "illegal sentence" and in (2) failing to address the statute of limitations. Pub. Appx. p. 139-146.

She pointed out that the plea would have been subject to challenge because Barker was clearly misled by the sentencing judge.

The claim raised by Barker in his *pro se* filing was properly raised in an application for post-conviction relief. The sex offender registry requirement is not a sentence. It is a collateral consequence of the sentence. State v. Searing, 701 N.W.2d 655, 667 (Iowa 2005); State v. Mott, 407 N.W.2d 581, 583 (Iowa 1987). Therefore, it cannot be an illegal sentence. However, "if

a defendant has been affirmatively misled by an attorney concerning the consequences of the plea, the plea may be held to be invalid even though the consequences are characterized as collateral." Mott, 407 N.W.2d at 583 (denying a defendant's application for post-conviction relief and finding counsel did not mislead the defendant but just failed to advise the defendant, of the deportation consequences of his guilty plea). This Court has held that if a court or an attorney mislead a defendant regarding the collateral consequences of the plea, the defendant cannot make a knowing and intelligent choice. Meier v. State, 337 N.W.2d 204, 207 (Iowa 1983) (granting the defendant's application for post-conviction relief because the defendant was misled regarding eligibility for parole). "One would not supposed that the collateral consequences rule ...would apply in a situation in which defendant's guilty plea was induced by actual misadvice respecting some collateral consequence when that consequence was of substantial importance to the defendant." Id. (quoting Strader v. Garrison, 611 F.2d 61, 63 (4th Cir. 1979)).

In this case, the defendant had a valid and viable claim that his plea was not knowing and voluntary under Iowa case law. However, he had to address the statute of limitations problem as to why he was not able to bring his claim within 3 years of his conviction. Counsel for the defendant did not present a proper defense to the Motion to Dismiss the Application for Post-Conviction Relief as untimely. Barker brief on appeal, pages 11-13; Pub. Appx. p. 143-145.

The Court of Appeals, without oral argument, denied the appeal, affirming the dismissal by the District Court in a ruling dated June 26, 2015. Pub. Appx. p. 148. The Court of Appeals noted that Barker, in his postconviction, had "sought a new trial claiming his plea was not knowing and voluntary as he was not informed that he would be on the sexual abuse registry for his lifetime." Ruling p.4. Pub. Appx. p. 151.

The Court of Appeals said Barker was incorrect in his assumption that there was anything wrong with the statement by the District Court about being on the Registry for ten years. Here is specifically what the Court of Appeals said.

Because of the plea Barker entered under Section 709.11, an aggravated misdemeanor, the district court properly imposed the special sentence pursuant to Section 903B.2. In addition, under Section 692A.106, Barker was required to be placed on the Sex Offender Registry for a period of ten years, not a lifetime, as Barker mistakenly asserted in his postconviction application.” See *id.* Section 692A.106(2)(2007). Ruling page 5, Pub. Appx. p. 152.

The statement was somewhat remarkable because Assault with Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse is defined, and has been defined since 1999, as an “aggravated offense” under the Sex Offender Registry Chapter. See 692A.1(1) (2000 code). Conviction for any aggravated offense has carried lifetime on the Registry since 1999. The Court of Appeals’ conclusion was therefore incorrect.

Barker’s lawyer, Ms. Ruhtenberg filed an Application for Further Review of the Court of Appeals decision. Pub. Appx. p. 155. In her application, she pointed out that the Court of Appeals decision was incorrect about whether Assault with Intent is subject to only ten years registration. See Application for Further review, page 1-2; Pub. Appx. p. 161-162.

On November 10, 2015, without discussion, the Supreme Court denied further review. Pub. Appx. p. 177.

Procedure in front of agency

Section 692A.116 provides an administrative remedy for individuals who have a complaint about their registration statute. Subsection 1 of that section specifically allows an offender to request that the Department determine whether the period of time determined by the agency is incorrect.

On October 23, 2015, after the Court of Appeals had come down in his postconviction, Ross Barker submitted an Application for Determination to the Iowa Department of Public Safety on one of their forms. Conf. Appx. p. 42. He pointed out that he had originally been told in his criminal case by both his attorney and the judge that he would be on the Registry for ten years. He explained that after he got out of prison he learned from the Scott County Sheriff that it would be registration for life.

He explained that he filed a postconviction complaining that, among other things, his attorney was ineffective and that the Court had misstated the length of time he would be on the Registry.

On January 25, 2016 DPS made its Decision of Determination. Conf. Appx. p. 74. That decision just stated that Assault with Intent to Commit Sexual Abuse is regarded as an aggravated offense. It then cited the applicable Code Section 692A.106(5) which states that a conviction for an "aggravated offense" requires a person to register for life.

The decision did not contain a written explanation beyond the conclusory statements. The decision did not make any reference to the Court of Appeals decision, which was the basis for Barker's Application.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this case, Barker seeks to have the ruling from the Court of Appeals on the length of his registration applied preclusively against the Department of Public Safety. As such, the case is mostly a legal argument with the facts presenting the background for the Court of Appeals decision.

There are a number of facts, however, that can be emphasized for purposes of understanding Barker's claim.

1. Ross Barker plead guilty in 2008 in Scott County to the crime of assault with intent to commit sexual abuse in violation of section 709.11.
2. At sentencing, the judge specifically stated on the record that Barker would be on the Sex Offender Registry for ten years (sentencing transcript page 8, lines 14-23; Pub. Appx p. 53).
3. After Barker had completed with his sentence in 2013, he was told by the sheriff in Scott County that the Department of Public Safety had told him that he had to register for life.

4. Barker then filed a pro se post conviction challenging the voluntariness of his original guilty plea, assuming the information from the Department of Public Safety was correct.

5. Barker lost the post conviction. At the District Court it was dismissed on statute of limitations grounds.

6. On appeal, his lawyer argued for some kind of discovery rule exception to the statute of limitations. She then argued that Barker had been affirmatively misled in the original sentencing guilty plea proceeding and therefore his plea was invalid.

7. The Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court but not on statute of limitations grounds. Instead, the Court of Appeals specifically determined that Barker had not been misled about the length of his registration because in fact he only had to register for ten years.

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