### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### NO. 17-0488

**ROSS BARKER**,

**Petitioner - Appellant,** 

vs.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY,

**Respondent - Appellee.** 

## APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY HONORABLE MARK D. CLEVE, JUDGE

## APPELLEE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA

JOHN R. LUNDQUIST Assistant Attorneys General Hoover State Office Building, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 Ph: (515) 281-3658 Fax: (515) 281-4209 E-mail: john.lundquist@ag.iowa.gov

# **

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

Dismiss); Am. App. 98). The PCR court accepted the State's statute of limitations argument and it did not address – nor was it necessary to the court's ruling to address – the accuracy of Barker's claim that he was subject to lifetime sex offender registration. (*See* D.C. Pub. App. at 72-79 (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss); Am. App. 103-110).

All parties, the trial court, and even appellate counsel, simply accepted as true Barker's assertion in his PCR application that he was required to register for life as a sex offender as a consequence of his guilty plea. (*See* D.C. Pub. App. at 53-66 (Application for Postconviction Relief); 67 (State's Motion to Dismiss); 68-71 (Barker's Resistance to Motion to Dismiss); 72-79 (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss); 97-116 (Appellant's Final Brief); 86-96 (Appellee's Final Brief); Am. App. 84-97; 98; 99-102; 103-110; 128-147; 117-127); *see also Winnebago Indus., Inc.*, 727 N.W.2d at 572 (quoting approvingly from Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 27, cmt. e, in discussing whether an issue is actually litigated for purposes of invoking issue preclusion). Thus, no evidentiary record on the subject was ever developed in the underlying PCR proceeding.

The Court of Appeals ultimately found that it was this lack of an evidentiary record that precluded it from finding the requisite prejudice to

sustain Barker's claim that PCR counsel was ineffective. *Barker*, 2015 WL 5287142 at \*3 ("On this record, Barker cannot establish any error occurred. While he claims he was given a lifetime registry requirement, he has provided no evidence of this assertion.") (Am. App. 152-153). The proper means for Barker to have developed such a record was through the filing and subsequent prosecution of a section 692A.116 application for determination before the Department. *E.g., Bullock*, 638 N.W.2d at 735; *Jensen*, 2016 WL 718798 at \*3; *Garcia*, 2013 WL 2368820 at \*2. So while the Court of Appeals incorrectly pronounced in its ruling that Barker was only subject to a ten- year registration term, that finding was not essential to the Court's resulting judgment to affirm the district court's dismissal of Barker's PCR application on statute of limitations grounds.

Furthermore, issue preclusion may be applied offensively against a party lacking mutuality with the prior litigants only if "the party sought to be precluded was afforded a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the action relied upon and that no other circumstances justify affording [that party] an opportunity to relitigate that issue."<sup>2</sup> *Hunter v. City of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While the State of Iowa was a party to both Barker's criminal prosecution and his subsequent postconviction action, Barker cites to no Iowa case in which this Court has necessarily found that a state agency had sufficient mutuality with the State of Iowa so as to be treated as a single

Des Moines, 300 N.W.2d 121, 126 (Iowa 1981). The Department was not a party to Barker's underlying criminal case or his subsequent postconviction proceedings. There is nothing in the record before the Court to indicate that the Department had notice that the length of time Barker would be required to register as a sex offender would be litigated in these proceedings outside the applicable statutory determination process. Although it is an agency of the State of Iowa, the Department lacks authority to appear in either a criminal or postconviction proceeding and prosecute or defend such cases on the State of Iowa's behalf. See generally Iowa Code chapter 80. Consequently, the Department had no opportunity to meaningfully litigate the question of Barker's registration status in those earlier court cases and it should not be precluded by the judgments entered in those cases from independently exercising its own determination authority in this case.

Regardless, recognized exceptions to the doctrine of *res judicata* are applicable to this case that justify the Department determining the length of Barker's registration term anew. One such exception provides that

entity or party for *res judicata* purposes. Neither *Heidemann v. Sweitzer*, 375 N.W.2d 665 (Iowa 1985), nor *Grant v. Department of Human Servs.*, 722 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2006), is instructive because the Court was able to reject the application of issue preclusion in those cases on alternative grounds without addressing the question of mutuality.

relitigation of the issue in a subsequent action between the parties is not precluded if: "A new determination of the issue is warranted by differences in the quality or extensiveness of the procedures followed in the two courts or by factors relating to the allocation of jurisdiction between them." *Heidemann v. Sweitzer*, 375 N.W.2d 665, 667-68 (Iowa 1985) (citing Restatement (Second) of Judgments, § 28(3)).

In applying this exception to the Department of Transportation in *Heidemann v. Sweitzer*, 375 N.W.2d 665 (Iowa 1985), and the Department of Human Services in *Grant v. Department of Human Servs.*, 722 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2006), this Court has found that prior judicial adjudications do not bind state agencies from issuing their own independent findings in those circumstances where the Legislature has specifically vested those agencies with specific jurisdiction to decide certain, defined controversies within those agencies' "special competency." *Grant*, 722 N.W.2d at 175-76; *Heidemann*, 375 N.W.2d at 668. This exception is equally applicable to the Department's sex offender determinations rendered under Iowa Code section 692A.116.

As discussed above, this Court has interpreted Iowa Code section 692A.116 as vesting the Department with sole jurisdiction to initially evaluate and determine whether any particular sex offender is subject to the registration requirements of Iowa Code chapter 692A and that adjudications entered prematurely by competing tribunals are of questionable validity. E.g., Bullock, 638 N.W.2d at 735 ("Until the Department has made a decision on the defendant's term of registration, there is no concrete controversy. Any adjudication by the district court prior to an administrative decision and a request for judicial review of that decision is premature."); see also Jensen, 2016 WL 718798 at \*3; Garcia, 2013 WL 2368820 at \*2; Mussmann, 2007 WL 1827336 at \*2. The Department is uniquely qualified to evaluate criminal history data, investigate the facts and circumstances of an offender's offense, and ultimately determine an offender's compliance with registry requirements. Although legislative amendments enacted in 2009 require criminal courts to make limited factual findings as to whether certain criminal offenses were "sexually motivated" for registry purposes, the ultimate question of whether a particular offender must register as a sex offender under chapter 692A – and for how long – remains within the Department's sole domain. See Iowa Code §§ 692A.116, 692A.126; see, e.g., Jensen, 2016 WL 718798; see also Heidemann, 375 N.W.2d at 668. "If the legislative branch of the government has given a

special power to an agency, it would seem that no court should be able to foreclose litigation of the issue before the agency." *Heidemann*, 375 N.W.2d at 668 (quoting approvingly Allen Vestal, *Preclusion/Res Judicata Variables: Adjudicating Bodies*, 54 Geo. L.J. 857, 886–87 (1966)).

Much like the Department of Human Services and its child abuse registry, the Department has been statutorily vested with ensuring the accuracy of the information maintained on the sex offender registry. Iowa Code §§ 692A.116, 692A.118; see Grant, 722 N.W.2d at 178. The public safety goals for maintaining a sex offender registry will be unreasonably impeded and undermined if the Department finds itself unable to correct blatantly errant judicial pronouncements concerning an offender's registration status. In this case, Barker seeks to unreasonably benefit from the errant pronouncement of the Court of Appeals as to the length of his sex offender registration to the detriment of the public's statutory right to know whether they are living or working with a convicted sex offender. Alternatively, offenders who were improperly found by sentencing and appellate courts to be subject to more onerous registration requirements than the code actually provides should not be precluded from seeking correction

of those errors from the Department. Thus, the opinions of the sentencing

court and the Court of Appeals should have no preclusive effect upon the administrative determinations rendered by the Department under Iowa Code section 692A.116.

Nor should a party be barred from relitigating a matter subject to a prior judicial ruling if: "The issue is one of law and . . . a new determination is warranted in order to take account of an intervening change in the applicable legal context or otherwise to avoid inequitable administration of the laws." See State v. Anderson, 338 N.W.2d 372, 375 (Iowa 1983) (citing Restatement (Second) of Judgments, § 28(2)). As noted, the Iowa legislature substantially rewrote Iowa's sex offender statute in 2009, a year after entry of Barker's assault with intent conviction. The Department should be allowed to evaluate Barker's registration situation within the context of these legislative amendments. Thus, if the sentencing court and subsequent appellate tribunals relied upon the earlier version of the code to render its judgment, the intervening law change justifies revisiting the question of Barker's registration term. See Anderson, 338 N.W.2d at 375.

Because sex offender registration is remedial and not punitive in nature, the State of Iowa may retroactively apply amendments to Iowa Code chapter 692A to persons convicted of offenses that occurred prior to the

enactment date of those amendments. See Pickens, 558 N.W.2d at 400 ("Iowa's sex offender registration statute, Iowa Code chapter 692A, is not punitive and therefore is not *ex post facto*."). The United States Supreme Court has likewise found that retroactive application of sex offender registry laws does not violate the Constitution's ex post facto clause. Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 105-06 (2003) (holding that because Alaska's sex offender registry act is non-punitive, its retroactive application did not violate the ex *post facto* clause). Thus, the Iowa Legislature could constitutionally impose longer registration periods upon persons previously convicted of qualifying sex offenses. Therefore, the criminal court's guidance in this case as to the anticipated length of Barker's sex offender registration requirement was merely advisory and could not bind the Department in the event of a future change in law. See Garcia, 2013 WL 2368820 at \*2.

Both the Department and reviewing courts have an obligation to implement and administer the sex offender statute as written by the Legislature. As discussed above, Iowa Code chapter 692A explicitly requires that Barker register for life as a sex offender. A district court is only empowered to modify Barker's registration status through the specific procedures delineated in Iowa Code section 692A.128. Barker did not seek such a modification in the present case, nor can a reviewing court order such relief through a chapter 17A judicial review action.

The Department accordingly committed no errors in finding that Barker has an obligation to register as a sex offender in Iowa for life and the District Court ruling upholding that determination should be affirmed.

# II. BARKER'S CLAIMS AGAINST THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY ARE NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW AS HE HAS YET TO COMPLETE TEN YEARS ON THE IOWA SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY.

Standard of Review: Judicial review of final agency action under Iowa Code chapter 17A is for corrections of errors at law. *E.g., Houck*, 752 N.W.2d at 16.

<u>Preservation of Error:</u> Having raised ripeness as a defense to Barker's petition for judicial review in the District Court, the Department's argument that Barker's claims are premature is preserved for appellate review. Although the District Court did not specifically rule upon the Department's ripeness argument, this Court may affirm for any reason urged below. *E.g., King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 11 (Iowa 2012) ("[W]e will uphold a district court ruling on a ground other than the one upon which the district court relied provided the ground was urged in that court.").

<u>Argument:</u> Barker concedes that he is presently required to register as a sex offender in Iowa. Rather, Barker's sole allegation is that he should only be subject to a ten-year registration term in lieu of the lifetime obligation found by the Department. Although Barker first registered with the Department as a sex offender in October 2008, he is only entitled to claim approximately four and one half years credit on the Iowa sex offender registry due to his multiple periods of incarceration arising from his special sentence revocations. (See D.C. Con. App. at 32-33; Movement Summary; Am. Con. App. 38-39; Am. App. 179); see also Iowa Code § 692A.107 (tolling incarceration time); Iowa Code § 692A.2(3) (2007). Because he has not completed ten full years on the sex offender registry, Barker's present claim that the Department miscalculated his registration term is not yet ripe for judicial review and should be dismissed.

"A case is ripe for adjudication when it presents an actual, present controversy, as opposed to one that is merely hypothetical or speculative." *Bullock*, 638 N.W.2d at 734 (quoting *State v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Story Cnty.*, 616 N.W.2d 575, 578 (Iowa 2000)). The ripeness doctrine is intended to "prevent the courts, through avoidance of premature adjudication, from entangling themselves in abstract disagreements over administrative policies, and also to protect the agencies from judicial interference until an administrative decision has been formalized *and its effects felt in a concrete way* by the challenging parties." *State v. Wade*, 757 N.W.2d 618, 627 (Iowa 2008) (emphasis added); *see Bullock*, 638 N.W.2d at 734.

With a minimum of five plus years to go before he exceeds the tenyear term to which he claims his registration should be limited, Barker has yet to suffer a definitive, concrete injury as a result of the Department's determination that he is subject to lifetime registration and his case should be dismissed as premature. *See, e.g., Jensen*, 2016 WL 718798, \*3 n.2 ("Since the ten-year period has not yet expired, we question whether the time is now ripe for [the offender] to pursue his administrative remedies.").

Any claimed future injury on Barker's part would be purely speculative and therefore is not ripe for adjudication. *E.g., Bullock*, 638 N.W.2d at 735; *Jensen*, 2016 WL 718798 at \*3. Several unforeseen intervening factors could ultimately render Barker's claims moot at any time during the next five years before he suffers a true injury in fact, including: his commission of a second or subsequent registrable sex offense that would independently necessitate lifetime registration; his return to prolonged incarceration thus tolling any future obligation to register; a successful modification of his registration requirement pursuant to Iowa Code section 692A.128; or, a statutory repeal or other amendments to Iowa Code chapter 692A.

Additionally, a reviewing court is empowered to reverse, modify, or grant other appropriate relief to a petitioner under Iowa Code section 17A.19 only if that petitioner's substantial rights have been prejudiced by an agency action taken in violation of law. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10). Until Barker completes ten years on the sex offender registry, he cannot demonstrate that he has suffered any prejudice as a result of the Department's determination that he must register for life instead of a tenyear period. Absent a showing under Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) that Barker's substantial rights were in fact prejudiced, any error on the Department's part is presently harmless and Barker's petition should be dismissed.<sup>3</sup> *City of Des Moines v. Public Emp't Relations Bd.*, 275 N.W.2d 753, 759 (Iowa 1979) ("It is a direction to the court that an agency's action

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because the Department's determination in this case constitutes "other agency action" and not a contested case, Barker would be free to re-file for judicial review at any time in the future once he is actually aggrieved or adversely affected by the Department's determination. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.19(3).

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